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1. Name

historic

and/or common

VAN WYCK BROOKS HISTORIC DISTRICT

2. Location

street & number See attached map

_NA hot for publication

city, town Plainfield 07060 ____ vicinity of
state New Jersey code 034 county Union code 039
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
X district ___ public _X__ occupied ___ agriculture —_ museum
___building(s) ___ private ____unoccupied —__ commercial _X_ park
____structure X_ both ____work in progress _X_ educational _X__ private residence
____site Public Acquisition Accessible —__ entertainment —X_ religious
____object ___in process X _ yes: restricted ___government ___ scientific
____ being considered ____ yes: unrestricted - industrial —transportation
NA —_no ___ military —__other:
4. Owner of Property
name Multiple
street & number
city, town ____vicinity of state
5. Location of Legal Description
courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Register of Deeds, Union County Courthouse
street & number Elizabethtown Plaza
city, town Elizabeth state N-J. 07207
6. Representation in Existing Surveys
title City of Plainfield Historic Sites In“eagsgigyproperty been determined eligible? ____yes X no
date 1984 __ federal ____state ___ county _X local
i J Heritage, CN 402
depository for survey records Office of New Jersey 8es
Trenton state New Jersey 08625

city, town




7. Description

Condition Check one Check one

___ excellent ___deteriorated ___ unaltered _X_original site

X__ good ____ruins X __ altered ___moved date
__fair ____ unexposed

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

The area known as Van Wyck Brooks District is located in the approximate
center of the city of Plainfield, New Jersey, which lies thirty miles southwest
of New York City and has a population of 45,329, The entire district is
residential in character and includes a portion of Park Avenue, West Ninth
Street, Stelle Avenue, Central Avenue, Field Avenue, Madison Avenue, Arlington
Avenue, and Randolph Road. (SEE DISTRICT MAP). The district is bordered on all
sides by residential areas. (SEE BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION) .

There are 152 properties in the district. Two of these are open land,
including Library Park (#37) and a vacant lot. There are two church properties;
one is the First Unitarian Society (#1) and the other is an adaptive re-use of a
former residence (#14). In addition, the district includes one house used as a
school (#10), two houses converted to funeral homes (#4 and #35), and one
dwelling used by the State of New Jersey for foster children. The Plainfield
Public Library (#37) is the only public building. All of the other buildings are
residential. Of these, six are apartment buildings; one of the apartment
buildings was formerly a private school (i#38). A number of the 1large
single-family homes have been subdivided into apartments.

Architecturally, the Van Wyck Brooks District represents a cross-section of
the residential building history of Plainfield. The oldest structure in the
district, the Stelle Farmhouse (#111), is a survivor of Plainfield's earliest
days as a rural farming village. The farmhouse property originally covered much
of the present-day district. The majority (66%) of the buildings date from the
1875 to 1925 period and are representative of Plainfield's heyday as a wealthy
commuter railroad suburb. Substantial 2% and 3 story single-family residences
designed in the Italianate, Second Empire, Queen Anne, Shingle Style, and
Colonial Revival styles predominate. Buildings constructed after the district's
period of significance include ranch houses, bi-level residences, and apartment
buildings. A break down of the age and levels of significance of buildings
within the district is provided below, followed by a building-by-building
inventory.

The general condition of the buildings within the district is good to
excellent. Some of the houses have undergone alterations over the years but in
all cases but one (#14), the essential character of the buildings has not been
adversely affected.

The lot sizes within the district vary in size, ranging from approximately
50 to 200 feet in width and 100 to 300 feet in depth. The largest lots are
generally located along West Eighth Street, which is the principal avenue through
the district. Setbacks, which average approximately 35 to 60 feet, also vary
from street to street but are typically uniform along a given individual street.
Landscaping is a significant visual component of the district with large yard
trees and mature shrubbery gracing well-manicured lawns.
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New Jersey

AGE DISTRIBUTION OF BUILDINGS IN THE VAN WYCK BROOKS DISTRICT

Age Number Percentage
Before 1850 1 .66
1850 - 1875 6 3.94
1875 - 1900 61 40.13
1900 - 1925 39 25.56
1925 - 1950 16 10.53
After 1950 27 17.76
Vacant Lots 2 1.32

Total - 152



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No. 1024-0018
Exp. 10-31-84

United States Department of the interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Inventory—Nomination Form
Van Wyck Brooks H.D.

Continuation sheet ~ Plainfield, ynion County, Item number 7 Page 2
New 5ersey )

LEVELS OF SIGNIFICANCE OF BUILDINGS IN DISTRICT

Category Number Percentage of Total
Key buildings‘ 5 3.3
Contributing buildings 107 70.4
Harmonizing buildings 18 11.84
Non-contributing buildings 22 | 14.5

Key, contributing and harmonizing buildings comprise 85.5 percent of the
total number of buildings in the Van Wyck Brooks District.

The Key structures in the District are:

900 Park Avenue (#4) - The Orville T. Waring House, now the Runyon Funeral
Home. Already listed for its individual merit on the National Register of
Historic Places, this brick house also is an important focal point to one of the
main entry areas of the District.

308 West Eighth Street (#13) -~ The Craig A. Marsh House, one of the most
elaborate and fanciful Queen Anne buildings left in towm.

452 West Eighth Street (#18) - The W.B. Wadsworth House, a Romanesque
mansion still complete with its original piece of property and out-buildings.
Occupying as it does an entire block, this house is one of visual prominence on
West Eighth Street.

563 West Eighth Street (#22) - The childhood home of Van Wyck Brooks and the
site from which the District derives its name. The house is on one of the
largest parcels of 1land in the district. Its size, fabulous well known
interiors, its prominence as a corner property, and its association with a known
literary figure make this one of the pivotal buildings in the area.

981 Central Avenue (#111) - The Manning Stelle farmhouse, the oldest
dwelling in the district; the present-day VWB District evolved from the farm's
original property.




NPS Form 10-900-a
3-82)

OMB No. 1024-0018
Expires 10-31-87

United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

Van Wyck Brooks Historic District,
Continuation sheet Plainfield, Union County, NJ [tem number 7 Page 3

BUILDING-BY-BUILDING INVENTORY

Below is an inventory of all structures located within the Van
Wyck Brooks District. Sites (including vacant parcels) are
numbered consecutively 1 through 152, followed by street address,
block and lot, and brief description/history. Those sites marked
with an asterisk are photographed. Buildings within the

district are categorized as follows:

=
1]

KEY = Possess individual architectural or
historical significance or serve as
landmarks within the distriect.

(@]
"

CONTRIBUTING Date from period of the district's
significance, have some architectural
or historical importance, and visually
contribute to the cohesiveness of the
distriect.

e
]

HARMONIZING Period buildings with major alterations
or newer buildings which are compatible
with the historic character of the
distriect.

NC

NON-CONTRIBUTING Detract from the significance of the
district.
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Park Avenue North to South

Category Address Block ot
1.% C 724 Park Avenue 361

=

The First Unitarian Church, 1891. The one story Gothic

Revival building has an L-shaped plan with coursed ashlar
exterior. The steeply-pitched gable roof originally had

slate tiles, now replaced with asphalt shingles; ornamental
wood cornice with dentils. The main facade features a 15!

by 20' tracery stained glass pointed arch window which is
flanked by tent-roofed octagonal turrets; the front ell is

also turreted. Wood-framed shingled rear ell addition was con-
structed in 1924.

Originally called All Souls Church. The first service was
held in the Seventh Day Baptist Church in May of 1889, the
sermon being preached by Robert Collyer of New York. The
Society organized about that time and held services at 17
East Front Street and at a house belonging to Job Male on
2nd Place. In January of 1890 a committee formed to receive
subscriptions for a church edifice. The land was given by
Job Male, Plainfield's first Mayor. Ground was broken for
the structure on October 2, 1891 and the cornerstone was laid
on November 8 of that year. The building was designed by Mr..
Oscar S. Teale, a New York architect who resided in 1894 at
67 Mercer Avenue, North Plainfield. Mr. Teale designed many
buildings in the immediate area.

2. H 730 Park Avenue 361 5

Built 1920's. A five storied brown brick apartment building
with a terra cotta belt between the first and second floors.
Elaborate decorative terra cotta frieze. Wrought iron lamps
flank the entry.

3. H 734 Park Avenue 361 . 6

Built 1920's. A duplicate of 730 Park Avenue. This apart-
ment building and its twin occupy the site of what once was
the Albion Hotel, later called the Park Avenue Hotel. A
publication of this time states that "The aim of the manage-
ment is to make the Park Avenue Hotel a select home for
refined people, and to that end care is taken to receive only
those who are in every way desirable."
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4. % K 900 Park Avenue 364 1

The Orville Taylor Waring Home, 1881. Known today as the
Runyon Funeral Home. This site is already on both the State
and National Register of Historic Places.

West Eighth Street

Category Address Block
5.% C 116 West Eighth Street 361

.
o
ct

"

Built in April, 1911 for owner-developer Charles H. Hand, a
Plainfield real estate businessman. A 2% story Shingle Style
house with a gambrel roof covered with asphalt shingling.
Three bays wide; clapboard siding on first floor with painted
columns. Palladian window on West Eighth Street frontage,
3rd floor. Entry has a paneled door with 15 small beveled
windows, a stained glass fanlight, and sidelights. The house
was converted into a two family residence in 1971.

6.% C 120 West Eighth Street 361 8

A 2% story American Foursquare built in May, 1911 for owner-
developer Charles H. Hand and designed by architects Oakley
and Son of Elizabeth, New Jersey. 1In 1921 a cement garage
was added. This clapboard-sided home is 3 bays wide and has
a hip roof with projecting dormers on 3 sides. A one story
front porch with stucco and wood columns and a straight
spindled railing. Entry with stained glass sidelights.
Small, centered open 2nd floor balcony.

7.% C 124 West Eighth Street 361 9

Built in May, 1911 for owner-developer Charles H. Hand by
builder George Gildersleeve. A 2% story American Foursquare
with strong Mission overtones, very similar to #120 West
Eighth Street. The house is stuccoed and has a red tile roof.
Three bays wide and an entry with stained glass sidelights.
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8. ¢ 128 West Eighth Street 361 10

Built in August, 1902 for owner G. Harry Squires (listed in
the city directory as being in sporting goods at 20 Cort-
landt, New York) by builder John Abbott (a Plainfield builder
and contracter) for a cost of $7,000. A 2% story Shingle
Style house built on a complex plan with a gambrel roof.
Chimneys and foundation of fieldstone. A one story porch
with paired Ionic columns. Front door is flanked by side-
lights of delicate wood tracery. The original siding
(clapboard on the first floor and natural cedar shakes above)
is now covered with a composition siding.

Arlington Avenue intersects

Category Address Block Lot
9.% C 202 West Eighth Street 359 9

Built 1880's. A 2% story Queen Anne house built on a rect-
angular plan with conical-roof round turret. Painted brick
on the first story with painted wood shingles above. Slate-
tiled gambrel roof. The house is 3 bays wide and has Queen
Anne bordered sash windows on the second floor. In 1894 this
was the home of Reverend K.P. Ketcham. The building was
converted to a school in 1975, and is now a 3-family
residence.

*10.%C 210 West Eighth Street 359 10

Built 1880's. Queen Anne residence with a 2% story complex
plan and a gable roof with slates. Clapboard siding.
Stylized sunburst on third floor. Staggered wood shingles
on the third floor gable ends. One story front porch with
Doric columns on pedestals. An old photo reveals elaborate
cut scrollwork between the 1st and 2nd floors which still
exist but has been covered with clapboard siding. 1I.R.
Opdyke is shown as owner on the 1894 atlas. In 1911 owner
William M. Clark had builder Charles MacDonald of 720 Rich-
mond Street, Plainfield, add a frame addition. The house is
now used as a combination music school and residence.
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11.%C 216 West Eighth Street 359 1

Built in 1893 and featured that year in the Scientific American
Building Supplement, this home was construeted for Mr. John V.
Beekman for a cost of $9,175.00 and was designed by the New York
architectural firm of Rossiter and Wright. In March of

1902, Beekman hired builder W.H. Pangborn to put on a brick
addition for $3,000.00 Mr. Beekman was a mechanical engineer.
He was a member of the firm and superintendent of the Linger-
wood Manufacturing Co. of Brooklyn, makers of hoisting mach-
inery. Mr. Beekman died September 12, 1916.

The 3 story Queen Anne house is built on a complex plan with
brick first floor and stained shingles on the upper stories.
Gable roof with slates. Doric porch columns on a brick
base. Fanciful Palladian window effect in cut shingles on
the west facade. A 3 story circular tower with a coniecal
roof accents the southwest corner. Arched stained glass
window on the west frontage. Oval lights with wood tracery
on the 3rd floor west side. A 1% story, 3 car carriage barn
stands on the Madison Avenue frontage; it still has the natural

wood shingles, original hayloft doors and the ventilator on the
roof.

According to the article in Scientific American, the dimen-
sions of the house are: Front: 42' 3", Side: 51' 10"
exclusive of the piazza and rear porch. 1Inside ceiling
heights are: Cellar: 7', 1st floor: g' g", 2nd floor: 9'3",
3rd floor: 8'3"., Inside the house the vestibule and hall
are trimmed with antique oak and with paneled wainscoting.
The stairway has a cherry rail and balusters and oak steps.
The newel post is formed of a cluster of spindle balusters.
The parlour on the right is trimmed with sycamore and the
one on the left is poplar. The library is trimmed with
cherry and the dining room is done in cak. The 2nd floor is
trimmed in white wood contains 5 bedrooms and 1 bath. Two
bedrooms have a cherry finish, others are natural. The
third floor contains a large guest chamber, 2 servant bed-
rooms, a conservatory and storage. The article describes
the exterior plan of the house saying it "shows a low broad
ﬁiazza, balcony, tower, and many bay windows."

In 1945 this home was converted to a 5 family residence.

Madison Avenue intersects
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12. C 302 West Eighth Street 357 5

Built c¢. 1900. A 2% story Shingle Style house with clapboards
on the 1st floor frontages and a doubled row of stained
shingles above. Gambrel roof and a cut stone foundation. A
Palladian window with stained glass panels on the west front-
age. A second Palladian window on the third flor.

13.%K 308 West Eighth Street 357 6

Built in 1893 for the Honorable Craig A. Marsh, a prominent
lawyer, by the New York City architect Mr. Charles H. Smith.
An elaborate Queen Anne residence constructed on a complex
plan with a turret, a tower, and a high pitched slated gable
roof. Brick and wood shingle exterior with a variety of cut
shingle and a terra cotta dragonback ridge. The central
turret encasing the stairway has stained glass lights.

One story front porch with stylized Ionic columns. Cut stone
lintels and foundations. All the stonework is of serpentine
stone from Chester County, Pennsylvania with faces left as
they came from the quarry. The chimney on the west frontage
has a semi-circular window of stained glass which on the
interior is over a mantelpiece.

This home was featured in the April, 1893 issue of Scientific
American Building Supplement and it states that "this house
is situated on one of the handsomest thoroughfares in the
City." The dimensions of the house are as follows: Frontage:
g2' 10", Depth: 43' 8" exclusive of the piazza. The first
and part of the second floor are built of red brick with
stone trimmings. The remainder of the 2nd story and all the
third are done in cedar shingles. 1Inside, the hall and
stairway are trimmed with quartered oak and the vestibule has
a mosaic floor. The drawing room is done in the Renaissance
style and is treated with ivory, white, and gold in a delicate
manner. The library is trimmed with mahogany and the dining
room with oak. The second floor contains 3 bedrooms, den, a
billard room and a bath. The third floor contains three
bedrooms.

A biography of Craig Adams Marsh written after his death

refers to his home and states: "This home was externally most
attractive and within roomy and up-to-date in its appointments."
It is today, an enduring monument to his tastes, as well as

to his success in his profession.”

In 1941 this home was converted into a 2 family residence.
In 1956 the home was legally converted into a 4 family.

L . R E [RENRER R
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Central Avenue intersects

4. H 400 West Eighth Street 356 7

Built c¢. 1870. 3 story Italian Villa residence with a 1
story brick addition to the rear of the main house. The
exterior has been radically altered with the porches being
removed and the original siding and trim covered with
aluminum. Mrs. D.C. Green was owner on 1878 map, and Sarah
A.B. Green was owner on 1894 atlas. For many years the pro-
perty belonged to S.S. Carvalho, the comptroller for William
Randolph Hearst. Mr. Carvalho was a great patron of the
arts. In 1912 a brick museum wing costing $1,000.00 was
added to this home by builder George Nolte, a North Plain-
field carpenter. In 1955 a frame addition was put on the
house in converting it to a church.

15. C 414 West Eighth Street 356 8

Built 1880's. 3 story painted brick Victorian vernacular house
with complex plan. Segmental-arch windows. Curved Flemish
gables on the south and east sides. Sara A.B. Green is shown
as owner on 1894 atlas. In 1922 a frame addition was put on
this house for owner Helen Ludlum by builder J. Tatum.

16.%C 424 West Eighth Street 356 9

Built e¢. 1870. 3 story Second Empire residence with a 3 bay
facade and a mansard roof. The gable end facing the street
counterpoints the curve of the mansard; original slate

tiles are now painted. Clapboard siding. Window hoods and
eaves brackets still intact. Paired arched windows on the
third story. Handsome arched double door entry. Front porch
has been removed. J.W. Murray is shown as owner on the 1878
map. In 1894 this is listed as the home of Mr. Eric N.
Ericson, an advertising executive in New York.



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No. 1024-0018
3-82) Expires 10-31-87

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service "

National Register of Historic Places

Iinventory—Nomination Form
Van Wyck Brooks Historical District,
Continuation sheetPlainfield, Union County, NJ Item number 7 Page 10

17.%*C 440 West Eighth Street 356 10

Built e¢. 1870 for J. Evarts Tracy, a lawyer. 3 story brick
Italian Villa residence with a centered four story tower with
a hip roof. Wood corbels and elaborate stick and incised line
decoration on the gables and eaves. The front porch has been
removed, but the porte-cochere is still intact. Elaborately
paneled and glazed front door. A 2 story servants' wing to
the rear has a patterned slate roof on it. The original
carriage house stands to the rear of the property and has
been converted to private residential use (see #721 Field
Avenue). J.E. Tracy is shown as owner on the 1878 and 1894
maps. During the early 20th Century, the house was part of
an estate known as Cranehurst. 1In 1928 owner J.H. Crane
spent $3,000.00 for a frame alteration done by builder George
Nolte. 1In 1952 the house was converted to a 6 family
residence.

Field Avenue intersects

18.*K 452 West Eighth Street 354 , 3

Built in 1893 for New York broker W.B. Wadsworth Esq. and

later the home of Henry C. Irons, Broker. Designed by the
Boston architectural firm of Hartwell and Richardson. The home
was featured in the May, 1893 issue of Scientific American

and is referred to as "a pure example of the Romanesque Style
of architecture and the interior is treated in the same style.”
2% story Romanesque residence built on a complex plan with

a cross-gabled and turreted hip roof. Constructed of haverhill
brick laid up in red mortar with Long Meadow sandstone trim.
Woodwork on rear and gables is covered with shingles,
originally stained sienna and now painted. There is an out-
standing double doored entry with iron grillwork and a first
floor solarium with compound red brick arch.
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To the rear of the house is a 2% story brick and shingle
carriage house with the original ventilator which has
converted to residential use with no exterior alteration.
In 1931 the house was converted to a four family dwelling.

According to the Scientific American, an acanthus leaf design
is repeated in the mantels, newel post, and buffet of the
interior. It is also part of the decorations of the walls
and ceiling. The hall is trimmed with antique oak and there
is paneled wainscoting 5' high plus ceiling beams. The hall
fireplace is of Tiffany brick with a lintel of rock-faced
long meadow sandstone. The drawing room is trimmed with
white mahogany and the fireplace has facings and a hearth of
Breccia marble. Also paneled wains-coting and ceiling beams.
The dining room is trimmed with old English oak and has
paneled wainscoting 8' high plus ceiling beams. The butler's
pantry and kitchen and rear hall are trimmed with ash and are
finished "with the usual fixtures in the best possible
manner." The 2nd floor of the dwelling contains five bed-

rooms, closet and bath. The 3rd floor contains five bedrooms
and a trunk room. :

Liberty Street intersects

19.%C 506 West Eighth Street 352 y

Built ¢. 1895-1900 for Ernest R. Ackerman. 2% story eclectic
Victorian mansion with Tudor influences. Complex plan, faced
with brick on the first story and shingles above. Bellcast
hip roof with curved gables on dormers. A one story wrap-
around porch displays elaborate ironwork; recessed second
story porch with stylized columns. Stained glass in transoms
of first floor windows. To the rear of the property stands

the original carriage house with horizontal and diagonal-cut
shingles.

In 1903 Ackerman spent $800.00 on a frame extension to this
home. Ackerman, a cement manufacturer, was a prominent
figure in Plainfield. He was born in New York on June 17,
1863 and moved to Plainfield at 5 years of age. He was in
the high school class of 1880. 1In 1890 he was elected to
the Plainfield Common Council and became Chairman of the
Finance Committee. In 1892 he became Chairman of the
Republican City Executive Committee. 1In May of 1911 Senator
Ernest Ackerman was Acting Governer of New Jersey during the
absence of Governer Wilson. In various capacities Ackerman
was connected with railroad, water, and manufacturing enter-
prises.



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No. 1024-0018
(3-82) Expires 10-31-87

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Inventory—Nomination Form
Van Wyck Brooks Historical District,
Continuation sheet Plainfield, Union County, NJ

Item number

20.%C _ 520 West Eighth Street 352 5

The original Tudor style mansion on this site was built in
1899 for Manson W. Tyler, lawyer, by builder John Abbott.

The house was extensively altered in 1908 for the Tylers by
architects Marsh and Gette of 97 Nassau Street, New York.

The home has been demolished. Still on the property is a cut
stone 1% story carriage house, also in the Tudor style, built
in 1908 for a cost of $4,000.00 by the Rimmer, Apgar Co. A
formal garden and child's shingled playhouse are also still on
the property. In 1983 the carriage house was converted to a
single family residence. The property remains open and still
contains many mature specimen trees as well as an outstanding
and magnificent azalea hedge fronting on west Eighth Street.

21. H 532 West Eighth Street 352 6

A contemporary 1% story modern ranch house with a doctor's
office built in June, 1950 by Dr. Harry Loomar for $30,000.00
The builder was George Polcanis. Many fine old trees stand
on the property which was once the site of formal gardens.

Plainfield Avenue intersects

West Eighth Street- South side -~ West to East

22 . %K 563 West Eighth Street 379 ' 1

The original portion of this home (the 3 bay north section)
was built in 1893 by a man named Ames listed in the city
directory as being in insurance in New York City. Ames

died that same year and the home was occupied by Ames' daug-
hter, Sally, and her husband Charles Brooks. One of their
two sons, Van Wyck Brooks, became a well known literary
critic and a Pulitzer Prize winner, after whom this district
is named (See SIGNIFICANCE In 1902 the home was purchased
by Percy Stewart who became a United States Congressman and
also a Mayor in Plainfield. Over the years, the Stewarts
made many changes eventually doubling the original building
in size and installing the panels and doors from an ancient
Scottish castle that he purchased from the Duveens. The
house in its present form is a 3 story yellow brick Colonial
Revival mansion with a flat roof with a corbeled cornice. The
original carriage house stands to the rear of the house and
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was built of a buff brick in June of 1902 for a cost of
$3,000. The builder was John Abbott and the Architects were
Tracy & Swartwout, 156 5th Avenue, New York City. On the
first floor of the carriage house is a stable with four stalls
as well as a carriage wash. The 2nd floor contained a grain and
oat room, loft area, in addition to one bedroom and one bath.
In 1904 for $2,500.00 a combination garage and laundry was
constructed by builder Abbott and Son. This frame building
still stands and still contains the original laundry roomn.

In 1913 Mr. Stewart had two brick extensions added to the

home which cost a total of $20,000.00. Also-on the property
is a small cottage which Mrs. Stewart supposedly used as a
writing cottage. The grounds at 563 West Eighth Street are
still dotted with the original cast iron corinthian column
lamps. The property contains many fine specimen trees and

has one of the largest cut leaf silver beech trees in the
State.

23.%C 535 West Eighth Street 379 2

Built in May, 1928 for the Kanter family for a cost of
$15,000.00 by builder Mich. Pomponio. The Kanters still

own the house. A 2% story two-toned brown brick Georgian
Revival house with gabled green tile roof pierced by three
pedimented dormers. Rectangular plan with 3 bay facade and
enclosed end porch. The entry has an arched frontispiece

and a glazed door covered with elaborate ornamental ironwork.
There are leaded glass transoms on the first floor and on the
east side are clear leaded glass windows with designs of
ships in full sail.

24 .%C 531 West Eighth Street 379 3

Built in the 1880's for Mr. H.G. Runkle, treasurer of the
Plainfield Gaslight Co. A 2% story red brick Queen Anne
residence of grandiose proportions, built on a complex plan.
Stone foundation and trim; decorative terra cotta panels.
High hip roof with tall corbeled chimneys and octagonal
turret with onion dome roof. Bordered Queen Anne sash win-
dows. Glazed double doorway with iron grillwork. North
wing has large leaded windows with bottle glass panels. 1In
1906 Mr. Runkle had a long brick extension put on the house
for a cost of $12,000.00. Work was done by builder W.H.
Pangborn. In 1955 the home was converted to a 3 family and
1 efficiency.
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25.%C 519 West Eighth Street 379 y

Built in September, 1927 for $15,000.00 by builder and owner,
Otranto and Larussi. A 2% story red brick Colonial Revival
house very similar to #535 West Eighth Street. Rectangular
plan with 3 bay facade and enclosed end porch. Heavy wood
balustrade over arched door entry. Open tile floored veranda
across first floor frontage. '

26. NC 515 West Eighth Street 379 5
A brick and clapboard split level home built in 1953 for
$18,500.

27.%C 505 West Eighth Street 379 6

Built ¢. 1890. A 2% story Shingle Style house with a hipped
roof complex plan. Cut stone facing on the first floor with
painted wood shingles on the upper stories and stuccoed gable
ends. Dentil cornice and paneled frieze speak of the
Colonial Revival tradition. Entry has a paneled door sur-
mounted by transom of wood tracery, and a portico with fluted
columns. In 1894 this was the home of John F. Harmon, banker
(possibly the original owner). In 1953 the house was
converted to 2-family and in 1968 it became a 4-family. The
original porch has been removed.

28. NC 439 West Eighth Street 378 1

Built in 1953. 1% story ranch style house. This home is
built on the site of the Jacob Kirkner house. Kirkner was
a New York stockbroker. In front of the present house is
a magnificent copper beech tree.

29.%C 435 West Eight Street 378 2

Built in 1925 by builders Cohen and Estraelsky for a cost of
12,250.00. 2% story Colonial Revival residence constructed
of two-tone red brick with a green tile roof. Very similar
to 535 and 519 West Eighth Street. Dominant feature is
arched doorway with ornamental ironwork and large
frontispiece. Tile-floored front piazza with urn pedestals.
Spectacular azalea hedge fronting on West Eighth Street. 1In
1934 the house was converted to a 2-family, and in 1975 it
became a 3-family residence.
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30.%C 423 West Eighth Street 378 3

Built 1913 for a cost of $27,000. Erected as a manse for the
Grace Episcopal Church in Plainfield.  Built by Thomas
Jefferson Mumford as a memorial to his first wife, Clara
McKinley Mumford. Designed by the New York architectural
firm of Marsh and Gette; Tallamy and Brothers were the
builders. Dedicated June 29, 1914. The Tudor Revival
structure has a 2% story rectangular plan with a 3 bay facade
and a slate tile gabled roof. The first story is faced with
stone and the second story is stuccoed with half timberling.
Leaded glass windows throughout. Tudor-arched double door
entry. On the interior there are leaded glass panels in the
living room and drawing room which depiet the story of Sir
Galahad. The first floor are paneled entirely in elaborately

carved dark oak.

31. C Vacant Lot 378 y

Central Avenue intersects

32.%C 321 West Eighth Street 358 1

Built 1880's. 2% story painted brick Stick Style/Queen Anne
house with complex multi-gabled plan. Full porch and porte-
cochere retain original Stick Style trim. Glazed and paneled
double-door entry. In 1894 this was the home of William
Graydon. In 1938 the house was converted into a 6 family
residence.

33. NC 315 West Eighth Street 358 14

Three story brick apartment building built in 1962.
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34, %C 303 West Eighth Street 358 2

Construction date uncertain; not shown on 1878 or 1894 city
maps, although stylistically appears to date from the 1870's
(moved?). Large 3 story Second Empire residence built on

a complex plan with 3 bay facade and mansard roof. Original
slate roof, now painted, is still intact as well as the one
story porch with paired Doric columns and a 2nd story
balustrade. Elaborate leaded glass windows on the east
frontage. Paneled and glazed double door entry with original
hardware. This home is now used as a 6 family residence.

Madison Avenue intersects

35.%C 209 West Eighth Street 360 1

Built 1908 for George Babcock by builder Ira N. West. Now

the Higgins Home for Funerals. 2% story wood shingled
Colonial Revial mansion with a monumental entrance portico
supported by fluted Ionic colummns. Slated gambrel roof. To
the rear of the house is a contemporaneous 2% story wood
shingle and stucco carriage house with a slated gambrel roof.
George Babcock was a distinguished inventor and philanthropist.
One of the founders of the Babcock and Wilcox firm, he is re-
sponsible for patenting a steam boiler designed so that a real
explosion could not occur. In 1870 the Babcock family

located in Plainfield. Mr. Babcock was an active member of
the 7th Day Baptist Church, President of the Board of Trustees
for Alfred University, President of the Board of Education in
Plainfield, and Director of the Public Library.
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Arlington Avenue intersects

36. C Library Park

A one block square of open green space with many venerable
old trees. Owned and maintained by the City of Plainfield.

College Place intersects

37. B 100 West Eighth Street 362 1

The Plainfield Public Library. Built in March 1966 by
Essential Construction Co. for a cost $1,317,487.00.
Architectural precast concrete colonnade on all frontages.
Bronze tinted glazed (10' X 20') panels on all sides. This
building replaces the two original structures that were used
as a library. In addition, 10 houses on the block were also
demolished. The Publiec Library in Plainfield was organized
in 1881, 1In 1886 the original building fronting on Park
Avenue was constructed. Job Male, Plainfield's first mayor,
gave the land and the building provided that $20,000 be
raised for the purchase of books and pictures. Later a new

building given by Andrew Carnegie was attached to the old
structure. :

Arlington Avenue - East side - North to South

38.%C 717 Arlington Avenue 361 11

Originally the Plainfield Seminary, known for many decades

as Miss Kenyon's School for Girls. The school was
established in 1855 and headed for many years by Eliza E.
Kenyon. F.W. Ricord's History of Union County (1901) states
that "the building with its dignified proportions and solid
brick walls, is an interesting example of architecture in the
Italian Renaissance. The aim of the school is to give girls,
without injury to their health, an education which shall make
them intelligent women. (p. 420) The complex is composed

of three structures, three and four stories high, stucco over
brick, with low-pitched gable roofs and pronounced cornices.
The earliest section, a four story Italianate structure,
dates from the second half of the 19th century; early 20th
century additions and alterations. The buildings are now the
Arlington Court Apartments.




NPS Form 10-900-a
(3-82)

OMB No. 1024-0018
Expires 10-31-87

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service
National Register of Historic Places

Inventory—Nomination Form
Van Wyck Brooks Historical District,

Continuation sheetPlainfield, Union County, NJ 100 nimber 7 Page 18
West Eighth Street intersects
Library Park - Previously listed o
West Ninth Street -~ intersects
Arlington Avenue - West side ¢ North to South
39.%C 716 Arlington Avenue 359 8

Built e¢. 1880. 3 story Second Empire house with painted
slate mansard roof. Clapboard siding and 2/2 sash windows.
Arlington Avenue entry is 20th century alteration; house
originally faced W. Seventh Street and was moved closer to
Arlington Avenue due to subdivision of the property and con-
version to multi-family use. In 1894 this was the home of
Charles J. Fisk, banker, of Harvey Fisk's Sons.

West Eighth Street intersects

40.%C ' 822 Arlington Avenue 360 2

Built c¢. 1875. 2% story Italianate house with cross-gabled
complex plan. Clapboard siding and slate roof. Pointed arch
gable windows. Hooded second story paired windows ornamented
with cut scrollwork. H.S. Sterling shown as owner on the
1878 map. In 1900 owner G.H. Squires had a small stable con-
structed at the rear of the property (demolished 1983).

41,.%C 826 Arlington Avenue 360 3

Built c¢. 1875. 2% story clapboard-sided house almost
identical to 822 Arlington Avenue. O0.B. Leonard shown as
owner on the 1878 map.



NPS Form 10-800-a
3-82)

OMB No. 1024-0018
Expires 10-31-87

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Inventory—Nomination Form
Van Wyck Brooks Historical District,

Continuation sheetPlainfield, Union County, NJ Item number 7 Page 19
42.%C 828 Arlington Avenue 360 4

Built 1875 for W.C. Holmes. 3 story Second Empire house

with complex plan and slate tile mansard roof. Clapboard
siding. Original semi-pavilion shaped porch with cut
scrollwork brackets. Three leaded glass windows on the

north frontage. The house was sold in 1878 to Harry B.
Kaufman, a clerk in New York, and Maria L. Kaufman,

widow of the Rev. J.H. Kaufman. 1In 1894 a family by

the name of Fisk purchased the house, selling it in 1907 to
W.C. Kinney. That year Kinney spent $1000.00 for additions
made by builder Ira N. West and designed by the architectural
firm of Marsh and Gette. The house was extended on the north
and south ends, a new entry was added, oak flooring was
installed on the first floor, and all the exterior cornice
brackets were removed and then regrouped and spaced to
conform to the new additions. The house was converted to
multi-family use in the 1950's and is today a single family

residence again.

West Ninth Street - South side - East to West

43. C 203 West Ninth Street 376 35

Built c¢. 1875. Second Empire house built on a 3 story
rectangular plan, 4 bays by 4 bays, with mansard roof.
Bracketed cornice. Clapboard siding. Full porch supported
by Doric columns. T.W. Price is shown as owner on the 1878
map.

4y, C 205 West Ninth Street 376 34

Built c¢. 1900. 2% story Shingle Style house with cross-
gambrel roof. Uniform covering of wood shingles on roof and
exterior walls. Leaded glass transoms on first story windows.
Swan's neck pediment on dormer. Doric order porch.
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Madison Avenue intersects

45. NC 313 West Ninth Street 377 22

Built mid-20th century. 1 story modern ranch style house.

46. NC 323 West Ninth Street 377 21

Built mid-20th century. A split level home with a doctor's
office on the lower level.

Central Avenue intersects

Madison Avenue - West side - north to South

47, C 718 Madison Avenue 357 3

Built in 1894 for George H. Babcock Esq. by Mr. E.L. Hyde
architect, 130 Liberty Street, New York City. A 2% story
Victorian Gothic house with a hip roof with two cross gables.
Polychromatic brickwork in russets, yellows and blue. The
south side displays a second floor balustraded balcony. Tower
with a pyramidal profile roof. The original tile .
roof and the front porch have been removed. Featured in the
August, 1894 edition of Scientifiec American Building
Supplement. The article states: "The design is treated

in a very odd and picturesque manner. The exterior walls,
from foundation to peak, are built of selected burned brick,
and accidents of terra cotta and Philadelphia pressed brick,
laid up at random, without regard to uniformity and with

noses protruding.
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The roof is covered with a combination of Celadon Terra
Cotta Company's Rhinocerous and Gothic tiling.n™

The reception hall and the lobby are trimmed in oak. There
are stained glass windows on the stairway. The parlour and
den are trimmed with birch and the dining room is trimmed
with oak. The floors are laid with maple in narrow widths.
The kitchen, the rear hall and the pantry are trimmed and
wainscoted with Georgia pine. The 2nd floor is trimmed with
white pine and finished natural. The 2nd floor contains 4
bedrooms, 6 closets, a nook, 2 dressing rooms and a bath.
The 3rd floor contains a studio, 2 bedrooms, and storage.

The house serves today as a multi-family dwelling.

48, NC 722 Madison Avenue 357 4

A one story pink aluminum sided ranch house, built mid 20th
century.

West Eighth Street:;. intersects

49. C 816 Madison Avenue 358 3

2% story Queen Anne house built in the 1880's. Gabled slate
roof with vergeboard. Clapboard siding on the first floor
and bevel cut shingles above. Full porch with turned posts
and balustrade.

50.%C 822 Madison Avenue 358 4y

2% story Queen Anne house built in the 1880's. Multiple
gable roof with vergeboard. Brick-faced on the first floor
and patterned wood shingles above. Decorative beltcourse
between the first and second stories. In 1894 this was the
home of C.P. Leggett, a manufacturing chemist.

51. H 828 Madison Avenue 358 5

2% story Queen Anne style house very similar to #822 but
altered on the exterior with aluminum siding. Queen Anne
style windows throughout and a single wide glazed entry.
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52.%C 832 Madison Avenue 358 6

.2% story Queen Anne residence built in the 1880's. Bracketed
cornices and a hip roof with a cross gable. Clapboard on the
first floor and alternating horizontal cut shingles on the

2nd and 3rd stories. Veranda with Eastlake trim. Half timbered
pediment over paneled double door entry. Modified oriel

window gable on the 3rd story.

West Ninth Street intersects

53. H 900 Madison Avenue - 377 1

Built in 1936 for owner David Levitz, dentist, for $8,500.00
by builders Cohn and Esraelsky. The architect was H.V.
Trevrnan. 1% story Period Revival house English cottage
motifs. Copper-roofed bay window with clear leaded glass
panels.

54, C 906 Madison Avenue 377 2

Builder George Nolte erected this home in 1924 for Howard H.
Craig. Cost was $17,20Q 2% story Colonial Revival style
house set sideways to the street. Wide wood shingle siding
and a gabled roof. Paneled entry flanked by sidelights and
paired Ionic pilasters with an arched frontispiece.

55. C 910 Madison Avenue 377 3

2% story Queen Anne/Romanesque style residence built in the

the 1880's. Gable roof with sleepy eye window. Second floor
porch with arched opening and squat turned columns. Heavily
carved and ornamented frieze on the central round bay. Paneled
double doored entry. First floor has composition siding, an
obvious later alteration; the upper stories are sided with

wood shingles stained a greenish color. The shingles on the
gable end are cut in a circular sweep pattern. There are
stained and leaded glass windows on the south frontage.
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56.%C 916 Madison Avenue 377 3

2% story Shingle Style house built e¢. 1900-1910. Rectangular
plan with 3 bay facade and cross-gabled roof. Clapboard
siding. Box cornice; modified Palladian window; sidelighted
entry; fluted Doric order porch colums.

57.%C 918 Madison Avenue 377 5

2% story Shingle Style house built e. 1900-1910. Rectangular
plan with 2 over 3 bay facade and flared-eave gable roof.
Partially-overstoried porch with Doric columns. Natural
cedar shingle siding. Palladian stairwell window.

58.%C 924 Madison Avenue 377 6

2% story Colonial Revival house built c¢. 1900-1910. Rectangular
plan with 3 bay facade. Hip roof has wide bracketed eaves

and triple-arched dormer windows. Clapboard siding on the
first story and wood shingles above. Glazed double-leaf

entry with stained. glass transom. Full porch with square

fluted columns.

59.*C | - 930 Madison Avenue 377 7

Built in 1905 for Ella Voorhees by builder J.C. Manning. 2%
story Shingle Style house constructed on a rectangular

plan with gambrel roof, 3 bay facade, and wraparound porch
(enclosed with jalousie windows). Wood shingle siding. Windows
throughout have diamond-shaped panes in top sash with single-
pane bottom sash. Dormers have round-headed tracery sash.
Overhang between first and second floors is defined by saw-
tooth shingles. Specimen copper beech in front.

60. C : 936 Madison Avenue 377 8

Built in 1923 for C.D. Manning for $7,000.00. 2% story
Colonial Revival house, 4 bays wide with a gable roof and
clapboard siding. A two story extension on the left side.
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61. C 938 Madison Avenue 377 9

2% story shingled Colonial Revial house built in 1923.
Gambrel roof. One story porch with latticework between the
columns and the balustrade. Paneled entry with sidelights.

62. C 940 Madison Avenue 377 10

2% story gabled Colonial Revival house built in 1923.

Aluminum siding. One story porch on main facade. Paneled
entry.

63. c ' 946 Madison Avenue 377 11

2 story Colonial Revival hipped roof dwelling sided with
clapboard on the first story and shingles above. Dentil
cornice and wood fan on the south frontage. 6/1 sash windows.
Building was originally the carriage house to the Schoomaker
Residence, built in 1897, which still stands at 963 Central
Avenue. Original carriage house doors are still intact.

Stelle Avenueintersects

64.%¥C 970 Madison Avenue 3021 1

Built in 1932 for $8,500 by builder Axel Lagstrom. 1%
story cottage style house having a gable roof with flared
eaves. The first floor is stone faced; the original wood
shingles on the second floor are now aluminum sided.

65.%C 978 Madison Avenue 3021 2

Built 1910 for owner Charles Schamp by builder J.C. Manning.
2% story Shingle style house with gable roof, rectangular
plan, and Doric order balustraded full porch. Palladian
dormer window; multiple projecting bays; stained glass windows
on north frontage; door with beveled glass panels.
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66. C 982 Madison Avenue 3021 3

Built by J.C. Manning in 1912. 2% story wood-shingled .
Colonial Revival house with a gable roof. 8/8 sash windows;
round-headed tracery sash in dormers. One story porch has
arched openings.

Randolph Road intersects

Madison Avenue - East side - North to South

67.%C 823 Madison Avenue 360 7

Built ¢.1870. 3 story Second Empire house with mansard roof
and 3 bay facade. Roof is concave and has hexagonal slate
tiles and dentils along the upper ridge. Paneled frieze with
seroll brackets. Clapboard siding. Windows have molded
surrounds. Glazed double-leaf entry with pilasters and
bracketed overdoor. In 1878 Clark Rogers was the owner; in
1894 this was the home of P. Minturn Smith, iron manufacturer.

68. C 827 Madison Avenue 360 6

Built 1880's.2% story Queen Anne style house with a gable roof
and a one story porch with turned columns and balustrade.
Double-leaf entry with transom. Clapboard on first and second

floors; fishscale shingles and half timbering on the upper
story.

69.%C 831 Madison Avenue 360 5

Clark Rogers House, built c¢. 1860-1870. 2% story Victorian
Italianate residence with truncated hip roof and highly
decorated cross gables. Elaborate bracketed cornice with
incised millwork on frieze. Clapboard siding. Windows have
pronounced segmental heads and flared surrounds. Leaded glass
tripartite window on main facade. Double-leaf oak paneled
door with heavily-molded segmental-arch enframement. Porch
on two sides with turned balusters. C. Rogers owned this
property during the 1860's and 1870's. In 1909 a compatible
2 bay addition to the north end was built by Ira West for
owner Mrs. Crompte.
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70.%C 901 Madison Avenue 376 33

Built e¢. 1875. 2% story Victorian gclectic house with square
plan, double hip roof, 2 over 3 bay facade, and full porch.
Roof has pointed gables, dormers, and 2 internal chimneys.
Clapboard siding. Windows have incised shaped lintels.
Paneled doorway is flanked by leaded sidelights and appears
to have been altered. Porch has Gothic arches and square
posts. ‘Rev. J. Stockbridge was the owner in 1878; in 1894
this was the home of R.F. Murray, insurance.

71.%C 909 Madison Avenue 376 32

Built 1880's. Stick Style/ Queen Anne residence built on a
2% story complex plan with asymmetrical fenestration. Slate
tile hip/intersecting gable roof with vergeboard. Clapboard
and scalloped shingle siding; board and batten frieze band
with sawtooth border. Glazed and paneled double-leaf entry.
Owned by Marsh in 1894,

T72.%¥C 915 Madison Avenue 376 31

Built c¢. 1875. 3 story Second Empire house with slate tile
mansard roof, 3 bay facade, and central pavilion with hipped-
roof tower. Shingle siding. Wide bracketed cornice with
dentil molding. Variety of window types, many with incised
lintels. Segmental-arch paneled double door. O0.B. Leonard
was owner in 1878; in 1894 this was the home of Anna 0. Marsh,
musician, and Frances E. Marsh, Newark lawyer.

73.%C ' 917 Madison Avenue 376 30

Built 1880's. 2% story Queen- Anne residence with rectangular
plan, gable roof, and 2 over 3 bay facade. First and second
stories are stucco; gables are sided with patterned wood
shingles. 4/4 and bordered sash windows with segmental heads.
Full porch has turned posts. Thickstun is shown as owner on
the 1894 map. ‘
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T4.

75.

76.

C ~ 919 Madison Avenue 376 29

Built September, 1925 for owner J. Peter Kirch by Alex
Lagstrom, builder. 2 story wood-shingled Colonial Revival
house with a gambrel roof.

C 921 Madison Avenue "376 28

Built ¢. 1875. 3 story Second Empire house with slate tile
mansard roof; similar to 915 Madison Avenue. Painted wood
shingle siding. Roof dormers are pedimented and highlighted
with a sawtooth molding. Double-leaf doorway with frosted
etched glass windows. J. Cameron may be original owner

(on 1878 map); in 1894 this was the home of P. L. Phillips.

%C 925 Madison Avenue 376 27

Built in September, 1926 for Jacob and Rose Zaller by William

Kirch. The architect was C.C. Bell of Cranford, New Jersey.

1 story Spanish Colonial house with white stucco exterior and

red tile roof. Gracefully arched windows and an arcaded entry

porch with wrought iron gates highlight the main facade.
Similarly-designed garage.

T7.%C 929 Madison Avenue 376 26

78.

2% story Shingle Style house built about 1895-1900. Cross
gable roof has polygonal dormers and flares over broad full
porch. Corbeled end chimney. Stained wood shingle siding.
Variety of multi-light sash windows.

C 935 Madison Avenue 376 25

Built in 1894. 2% story Queen Anne house with a slate tile hip
and gable roof. North frontage has a fine stained glass window.
Double-~door -entry. Original siding of the house has been
covered. Converted to 2-family residence in 1954,
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79.%C 939 Madison Avenue 376 24

2% story Shingle Style house built about 1895-1900.
Rectangular plan with steep gambrel roof, 3 bay facade, and
a Doric-cclumned porch on two sides. Uniform covering of
brown-stained wood shingles. Gabled dormers have paired
tracery sash with cornices decorated with festoons. One
window is flanked with elaborately carved panels topped

by leaded glass fixed lights. Round-arch glazed and
paneled door has wide enframement with paired pilasters.

80.%C 943 Madison Avenue 376 23

2% story Colonial Revival house built in 1900 for Howard W. Beebe,
whose occupation was listed that year as insurance. The
architect was A.L.C. March of New York City, and the builder
John Abbott. Rectangular plan with hip roof, wide bracketed
cornice, and clapboard siding. The main facade includes a
double projecting bay, a central round-arch stairwell window
with tracery, wide 12/2 sash, and an off-center paneled door
with a Doric-columned pedimented portico. The house was
featured in the March 1903 edition of the Scientific American.
The article states: "The hall contains a colonial stairway
with fluted columns, newel and turned balusters painted white,
the rail being of mahagony. The reception room is trimmed in
white pine and treated with white enamel. The living room

is trimmed with white wood stained a dull black while the
walls are covered in red burlap with harmonious effect. The
mantel in this room is of dutch tile with a red Welsh tile
hearth." The exterior was originally painted gray with white
trim, and the roof was covered with wood shingles painted

moss green.

81. C 947 Madison Avenue 376 22

Built 1935. 2 story gabled Colonial Revival house, 5 bays
wide, with a paired columned entranceway. Brick-faced first
story and painted wood shingles above. Shallow pent roof of
slate between the first and second stories.
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82. H 951 Madison Avenue 376 21

Built in 1926 for Chris Stahl. Colonial Revival house very
similar to 947 Madison Avenue except the exterior has been
aluminum-sided. Leaded glass sidelights flank the front door.

Stelle Avenue intersects

83. C 057 Madison Avenue 3022 16

Built 1906 for owner R.G. Newman by builder J.C. Manning.

2% story Colonial Revival house with a hip roof, wood shingle
siding, and an enclosed one story front porch. Arched
pedimented dormer with a swag design over the windows.

84.%C 965 Madison Avenue 3022 15

Built e¢. 1900 for Mrs. J.H. Hallock and featured in the
December 1902 edition of Scientific American. 2% story Shingle
Style house with a rectangular plan, gambrel roof with large
front cross gable, and 2 over U4 bay facade. The exterior has

a uniform covering of cedar shingles, stained brown, with white
wood trim. Foundation and chimneys are constructed of vitified
brick laid up in an irregular manner. 12/1 sash windows with
round-arch pane in upper lights; rectangular fixed light adjacent
to doorway repeats same motif. Round gable light. Recessed
end porch. Glazed and paneled door has gabled portico with
diamond pattern in shingles. According to the Scientific

American, "The living room is the principal feature of the
interior and it is trimmed with white enamel. The hall
contains a ceiling beamed with chestnut and stained a dull
brown, an inglenook, with broad seats, leaded glass windows,
and an open fireplace with Roman brick facings.

The staircase is recessed in an arched alcove and is of an
ornamental character in colonial style. Reception room is
trimmed with white pine and treated with white enamel. It
contains a fireplace with tiled hearth and facings and a
mantel of colonial style. Also a dining room and kitchen on
the 1st floor. The 2nd floor contains 4 bedrooms and 1 bath.
The 3rd floor contains a servant's bedroom and storage."
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